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			IN ENEMY HANDS

			This absorbing and authoritative book takes us back to a terrible moment in the history of the modern world, a time when South Africa still counted internationally as one of the virtuous nations in that most titanic struggle against fascist tyranny, the Second World War. Then, tens of thousands of the country’s inhabitants volunteered to fight overseas in the Allied cause. For some, the brutal war which engulfed them brought neither victory nor glory, but the early shock of surrender and the lingering ordeal of becoming the captives of their Italian and German enemies.

			In In Enemy Hands, her pioneering account of the fate of South African prisoners of war, Karen Horn reclaims a raw, fascinating and moving history which has been all but forgotten. These gripping pages capture their everyday experience, their consciousness, and the ways in which they coped with camp life – a world stalked by fear, hope, despair, opportunism, resilience, human fallibility, and rocky moral values.

			Drawing on vivid oral reminiscences as well as documentary sources, In Enemy Hands is impressively lucid, deeply humane, and packed with shrewd insights. Dr Horn’s major study is a superb achievement in bringing a trapped and chafing part of South Africa’s Second World War generation out of the shadows.

			Professor Bill Nasson, Stellenbosch, 2015
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			PREFACE

			When we read about war, we are more often than not spellbound by the heroic acts of the men in the firing line, their bravery, endurance and all too often, their sacrifices. We speculate and wonder about the heart-wrenching, or heartless, decisions and military tactics of the generals and politicians who put these young men at risk.

			Today, books on World War II are plentiful, yet for some reason, there seem to be remarkably few publications on South Africa’s role in this war, which had such an influence on how we live today. There is even less written about those who participated on the margins of the war, especially those who were physically removed from the battlefields through capture by enemy forces. South Africa’s prisoners of war during World War II, their experiences and recollections, were almost forgotten.

			In 2010 I tracked down a number of former POWs, all of whom expressed surprise at being asked to share their experiences of almost 70 years earlier. Together with written memoirs and archival documents, their interviews revealed rich narratives of hardship, endurance, humour, longing and self-discovery. Instead of fighting, these men adapted to another war, one which was fought on the inside of many prison camps. It was a war against hunger and deprivation, at times against ever-encroaching despondency and low morale amongst their companions in captivity.

			Considering their experiences, I found it astonishing that almost all of them claimed not to be heroes of any kind. Almost all of the former POWs stated this ‘fact’ at the beginning of each interview. When one considers that they returned home in 1945 to a country which soon afterwards tried its utmost to promote national amnesia with regard to its participation in the war and that the official war history project was unceremoniously stopped, it is perhaps understandable that these men found it unusual that someone would be interested in their stories many years later. 

			However, as one of the former POWs put it, they ‘saw history from the inside’, and we would do well to take note of what they saw. Seeing the war from the enemy’s point of view and seeing what it did to its citizens changed how all of them viewed the world. If anyone can teach us anything about the futility of war, it is these men who looked the enemy in the eye every day. This book is about these heroes, the POWs who came back home and who carried on with life.
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			CHAPTER ONE

			FOR DR SMUTS, NOT FOR DR HERTZOG

			We were playing bridge with some New Zealanders, and this New Zealander told us beforehand how they skin rabbits […] There was hardly any food left in camp at all, but we were still playing bridge and in came a cat, walking from I don’t know where, […] and I think Percy said to the New Zealander, ‘how do you skin a rabbit mate?’ And he picked up the cat […] we cleared the table of cards […] and it was in the pot cooking in about ten minutes. And they asked for contributions, you know, somebody had a potato, somebody had a turnip, somebody had a piece of mangel wurzel, somebody had a piece of bread, and this was all cooked up and dished out. It was a remarkably good stew.

			The men who feasted on the cat stew together with the story-teller, Fred van Alphen Stahl, were all Allied prisoners of war in Stalag VIIIB near Lamsdorf, one of the largest prison camps in German-occupied territory during World War II.1 During the early months of 1945, desperate deeds were ever more common as it became apparent that the Germans were about to be overpowered by the Allied forces. Millions of refugees, prisoners of war and fighting forces found themselves fighting more for survival than for victory.

			Among the Allied captives were thousands of South Africans who had volunteered their services to the Union Defence Force (UDF) a few years earlier. Each man’s decision to join up was based on a unique set of circumstances, resulting in an army made up of an assortment of cultures, languages and political beliefs. However wide their differences, the UDF volunteers all had one thing in common. None of them had ever contemplated spending most of the war in a prison camp.

			Bernard Schwikkard was one of these men, and although Schwikkard is a German surname, he was ready to join the Transvaal Scottish Regiment to fight alongside the Allies when the war started. After the war, Bernard was still the only member of his family who spoke German – and not because of the ancestral connection, but because of the long time he had spent in Germany as a POW. Bernard volunteered along with his brothers, and his sisters volunteered for the nursing corps.

			For Fred Geldenhuis, the decision was made long before the war actually started. His reason for volunteering his services was not so much to join the UDF as to get away from home. His stepmother had made it very clear that he was not wanted, and so in 1937, when he was 16, he joined the Special Service Battalion. The day before Fred left home, his father gave him a Valet razor, and he shaved for the first time. Fred started his career in the battalion as a bugle player, but from day one he considered himself an army man who ‘took to soldiering like a duck to water’. Fifteen months later Fred was promoted to corporal, but thanks to his skill on the parade ground and in making a favourable impression during inspections, he was promoted to sergeant a month later. This promotion led to him being the lead bugler at the ceremony of the laying of the foundation stone at the Voortrekker Monument in 1938.

			Fred took great pride in his accomplishments, especially when he thought about how miserable he had often felt while he was dependent on his stepmother and her family. By the time he celebrated his eighteenth birthday, he reckoned it was time for a career change, and he joined the South African Police as a trumpeter. The work of the SAP appealed to his adventurous spirit because their ‘mobile units with mule carts used to patrol for about 3 weeks at a time in the rugged country of the Transkei’. The SAP also offered higher pay than the Permanent Force. His meteoric rise up the ranks meant that by the time he was 19, he was lance sergeant drill instructor in the SAP Training Depot. When the Union declared war, Fred volunteered and took the oath with many others in the SAP, although he remembered how one man whom he hero-worshipped resigned and apparently joined the right-wing Ossewabrandwag.2
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			Fred Geldenhuis. COURTESY ILSE GELDENHUIS
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			The letter in which Fred Geldenhuis’s father gave permission for his son to join the ranks of the South African Police Force. COURTESY ILSE GELDENHUIS

			In the Free State, Wessel Oosthuizen faced his own problems. He and his three brothers had been trying to make a living on their farm, Koppieskroon, but Wessel realised that he would have to find another form of income because, as he put it, they were going to ‘stagnate’ on the farm. He unsuccessfully tried to find work on the railways and in the post office and in the end he was forced to join the SAP, but ‘he didn’t like it one bit’. When the war started, Wessel was not eager to volunteer. He remembered very well how his older brother used to tell stories of how the family was transported in cattle trucks to British concentration camps during the South African War. His mother survived the camps, but his grandmother died there. Wessel clearly did not view Germans as ‘the real enemy’, but apparently he was told by a recruitment officer that he had already shown, by joining the SAP, that he was loyal to the state and therefore had to wear the red tabs – contemptuously referred to as ‘rooi luisies’, or red lice, by Afrikaner nationalists – donned by all volunteers who took the oath to fight anywhere in Africa.3

			Although Fred and Wessel were both Afrikaans-speaking, they obviously felt differently about the Union’s decision to support Britain. From their recollections, however, it would seem that the UDF was desperate for volunteers and may perhaps have tried a bit too hard to convince some to join its ranks. During an interview in 2010, Fred stressed that although, in his experience, some men signed the oath voluntarily, others had taken the oath against their will.4 The issue of strong-arming volunteers in the SAP was investigated by the National Party government in 1950. According to the Police Commissioner of the time, there were no written instructions on the taking of the oath with regard to the SAP. He explained that those SAP members between the ages of 21 and 24 were called to the Police College in June 1940 where some took the oath while others did not. Wessel Oosthuizen was only 19 in 1940. The Commissioner declared that those who did not take the oath were not pressured into doing so and were used as guards in Pretoria and later sent back to their different areas where they performed normal police duties.5

			In Durban, the life of the Brokensha family was considerably more comfortable than that of many others struggling with the economic depression that had been prevalent since the late 1920s. David, the youngest of the three Brokensha brothers, described his childhood as happy and ‘full of satisfyingly rich memories’. Four of his uncles served in World War I, but his own father was rejected for medical reasons. In 1937, his eldest brother, Guy, joined the Fleet Air Arm in Britain. Two years later, when the Union declared war on Germany, David was so inspired by Guy’s adventures that he too wanted to become a pilot. Both he and Paul, the second brother, volunteered – but they ended up as dispatch riders, not pilots. Many years later, David recalled that their motivation for going to war was based more on romantic ideas of war than on reality. For them, to miss out on the action was simply unimaginable: as he said, ‘There was a war on and I didn’t want to miss it, you know it was sort of this boy’s adventure story.’ This enthusiasm was not necessarily matched by other English-speaking South Africans at the end of the 1930s: as David remembers, shortly after he and Paul volunteered, their father mentioned having told a friend at the elite Durban Club that he was worried because all three of his sons had joined up, and that the other man had confessed to being worried because not one of his three sons had. 

			Durban at that time was ‘very provincial’ and David admitted in his memoirs that the first time he came into contact with black South Africans and Afrikaners was when he joined the Army. It was especially his friendship with Piet Pieterse that led him to new insights:

			[Piet] was completely different. He was a year older, I was 17, he was about 18; he’d spent some years at a reformatory; we kidded them that they hadn’t worn shoes till they joined the army, which may have been true, he was from you know, an arme blanke background and yet he and I, he was my buddy, I mean …

			Thereafter, he seemed to reserve his scorn for those who had been too slack to do their duty. Many years after his decision to join the UDF, David still held the same opinion of those who stayed at home, saying ‘even now I rather look down on those who didn’t [volunteer]’.

			The Air Force played a part in Dick Dickinson’s decision to volunteer. At the time, Dickinson was a student at the University of the Witwatersrand and when a classmate and good friend of his was shot down in East Africa, it convinced him to enlist. Dick grew up in the Eastern Cape town of Queenstown and attended Queen’s College, whose buildings remind one of a miniature Oxford or Cambridge. His father was a Gilbert and Sullivan singer and as a result Dick became a lover of opera, so much so that he spent his £5 blazer money on opera tickets. His father, apparently sympathetic to his dilemma, immediately sent another £5.

			In 1940, while still busy with his Honours year in Botany and Geology at Wits, ‘the war had begun to pull’ at Dick, and when his application to attend a drilling course in Johannesburg was unsuccessful, he ‘turned up anyway’. A week later his subterfuge was discovered, but he and a friend had decided by that time that they would join the 2nd Transvaal Scottish Regiment.6 Dick firmly believed that he and his fellow volunteers were not anti-Germany so much as anti-Hitler and pro-British.

			With a similar attitude, Michael de Lisle volunteered because he ‘had a pretty fair idea of right and wrong and we’d been recognising over the years that Hitler was a threat to peace’ – so he joined up out of principle, feeling that it was his duty to ‘try and protect freedom’. Michael grew up in Cape Town and was one of three children. His father passed away when he was twelve and he described his childhood as ‘poor’, but his mother gave her children a ‘good education and love and good background and provided us with music and love of the mountain’. Although Michael had a deep sense of duty and responsibility towards his mother, he nevertheless volunteered after studying for only six months at the University of Cape Town. According to Michael, the university offered students credit for the full academic year if they volunteered.
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			The 2nd Anti-Aircraft Regiment’s ‘rousing send-off’ from Cape Town on 17 June 1940. They marched from the Castle along Darling and Adderley streets to the train station where they set off on their journey to the Potchefstroom training base. COURTESY ENID BATES

			It was during the first few weeks of training with the 2nd Anti-Aircraft Regiment that Michael and Fred van Alphen Stahl met, and they have remained friends ever since. Fred grew up in Malmesbury, a town which has been traditionally more Afrikaans than English. By the time the war started, he had noticed that the ‘war-friendly community in Malmesbury … they were rather small’. He remembered how the ‘herstigters’ and the ‘verkramptes’ taunted those who had taken the service oath and wore red tabs on their uniforms. Despite this, he was influenced by Smuts’s views of a united white South Africa, viewing himself simply as a South African rather than an Afrikaner.

			Fred Stahl’s reason for taking the oath and joining the 2nd Anti-Aircraft Regiment in Cape Town was slightly less ideological than his views on South Africanism, and he also did not have a very specific sense of duty towards Britain, because he did not feel that he was ‘fighting for the king and country and glory; it was just something that was going on, so let’s go’.

			Howard Bates, a surveyor in Cape Town, had been a member of the Cape Field Artillery since 1936. He remembered that it was not until the war gained momentum in Europe that his entire office decided to volunteer their services. Like Fred and Michael, Howard became a member of the 2nd Anti-Aircraft Regiment, and on 17 June 1940, his section marched, amid ‘a rousing send-off’, from the Castle along Darling and Adderley streets towards the station where they set off on their journey to the training camp in Potchefstroom.7

			Also from the Cape Province, Mathys Beukes felt that language was irrelevant, and described his parents as ‘English-Afrikaans’. By 1938, when Europe was already well on its way to war, Mathys had already started on his career path in the magistrate’s office in Winburg. When Smuts’s circular asking for volunteers reached him, he immediately declared his willingness. Initially, he was held back as his services were seen as essential, and it was only in 1940 that he was eventually able to join his friends in the Regiment President Steyn in Bloemfontein. Things did not go smoothly for Mathys, however, and he developed a severe illness, thought to be meningitis, soon after joining up. While recuperating, he heard that his regiment was on embarkation leave and set off to join it in Durban. As Mathys boarded the ship, he was spotted by the Admiral who asked what he was doing, as he was classified medically unfit for service. When the Admiral ordered him to see him in his cabin the next morning, Mathys knew that he would be told to go home. However, he also knew that the ship would be setting sail at 10h00, so he made sure that he was a little late for his appointment, leaving the Admiral with no option but to take him along.

			Another UCT student and articled clerk when the war started was Clive Luyt, who recalled not being much moved by what he called the ‘rather dead war’ or the first-phase ‘phoney war’ when Britain and France took up a defensive attitude while building up their military capacity against Hitler’s forces.8 It was Germany’s invasion of Belgium which motivated Clive and his friends, all of whom were busy with examinations at the time, to volunteer: ‘We went and had a couple of beers after writing our exam and we said, “Look, what are we doing about the war?” and we said, “Well, we’d better go and join up”, so after a couple of beers we joined up.’

			In more than one case, peer pressure played a role in the young men’s decisions to volunteer. Stanley Smollan admitted that he volunteered because all his friends were doing the same, although he added that ‘we just thought we had to do it, so it was a voluntary thing and we joined in May 1940, the Transvaal Scottish, where I was a private soldier, not a conscript, a volunteer’. Being young and easily influenced also played a part, and this aspect was especially exploited by the recruitment campaigns, as Stan admitted that they were ‘easily roused by flag waving [but] then we came down to the real reality, that we were soldiers under strict discipline and committed, because we’d volunteered’. He also felt that he had been influenced during his school days at Parktown Boys’ High School in Johannesburg where the local regiments were already training recruits through the school cadets.

			Bill Hindshaw’s childhood days were in stark contrast to Stan’s. Bill’s father, a construction worker in Durban, was retrenched when the tentacles of the depression reached the firm he was working for. Both of Bill’s sisters were working as secretaries at the time, but Bill was forced to leave school to supplement the family income. Sunbeam offered him a job handling the orders for their shoe polish, and he did this for a year and a half at £5 per month. When his father was offered a position with his old employer, the family moved to Johannesburg, and Bill managed to secure an apprenticeship as a bricklayer.

			When the war started, Bill had already been inducted into army life because he had been a reservist in the Active Citizen Force since the age of 16. He found the decision to volunteer easy as he ‘wasn’t married and girlfriends were no hindrance, you see. So I enjoyed the army, I really enjoyed myself in the army, the peace time army and then war came and I was on.’ Bill’s enjoyment of all things military may have been a consequence of the fact that he was ‘brought up on the shooting range’. He was a proud member of the Rand Light Infantry, a regiment that he considered to be ‘the premium regiment of shooting in South Africa’.

			Divisions and disagreements

			No doubt many of these young men boarded their troop ships with mixed feelings, whether fear of the unknown, or thoughts of heroic deeds to be performed while ‘doing their bit’. Some climbed on board reluctantly, holding onto their pay books, hoping to support their families with the relatively meagre income provided by the UDF to the enlisted men. Whatever their reason for volunteering, they were all in for a rude shock – it was not death or glory that awaited them, but captivity. By the end of the war a total of 334 324 men and women had served with the UDF. Of these 16 430 were captured or reported as missing. This number included all of the men mentioned above.9

			The astonishment among the men as they were rounded up by victorious and gloating German soldiers in the Libyan Desert was equal among all the Allied soldiers. With or without rank, South Africans, New Zealanders, Australians, Indians and British soldiers all stood incredulous as they watched the German Afrika Korps gain the upper hand with ease. For all of these unfortunate men, captivity would bring hardship that could only be dealt with if they managed to adjust physically and – perhaps more importantly – mentally. For the South Africans, however, the country’s complex past made the mind-shift slightly more complicated. Divisive politics had been a prominent and long-standing facet of life that split families, language groups and different races from each other. News of the internal struggles of the country even reached the ears of the enemy, as one German soldier jibed that the South African captives were obviously ‘for Dr Smuts, not for Dr Hertzog’.10

			The rivalry between the supporters of Jan Smuts and those backing JBM Hertzog had been brewing for some time. Through the United Party, these two men governed the country and represented substantial sections of the white South African population. While the Afrikaans- and English-speaking inhabitants took opposing political views, they were nevertheless the only enfranchised sections of the population; the black inhabitants were for the most part ignored when it came to deciding about the war. Smuts’s South African Party and Hertzog’s National Party had joined forces in 1934, but hardly five years later, the onset of World War II caused the long-fermenting differences between these groups to spill over. The political debacle resulted in Hertzog’s dramatic resignation as Prime Minister and in Smuts leading the country into the third and last war of his lifetime.11

			The bitterness between the two white language groups had a long history. It was especially during the South African War (1899–1902) that resentment among many Afrikaners towards the British reached a peak. In Germany, public support leaned towards the Boer cause, and although the German government did not want to sour relations with Britain, the British public formed the view that the Germans were not well-disposed towards their colonial interests.12 Coincidentally, it was during this conflict at the start of the century that one of the key players of World War II experienced a hint of what many young Union Defence Force soldiers would go through between 1939 and 1945.

			On 15 November 1899, Winston Churchill became a prisoner of the Boer forces when the armoured train he was travelling in was captured on its way to Ladysmith.13 When writing My Early Life, he described the experience of being a prisoner of war as ‘the least unfortunate kind of prisoner to be, but it is nevertheless a melancholy state […] Hours crawl like paralytic centipedes. Nothing amuses you.’14 At the time of Churchill’s captivity, Smuts had already made his debut into South African politics and filled the position of state attorney for the Transvaal government. As a war general Smuts was committed to the cause of uniting the Boer republics and he was determined that Britain would not control the southern tip of Africa.15 The friendship that later developed between these two men was to play a defining role in the Union of South Africa’s participation in both the World Wars.

			At the turn of the century, however, the South African War divided the region’s Afrikaners into three groups. The Bittereinders were those strong-minded, some would say obstinate, individuals who believed that by fighting to the bitter end, they could teach the British Empire a lesson. Sadly their efforts came to an end as their food and ammunition dwindled and their wives and daughters starved in the British concentration camps. In some cases the men were so convinced of their cause that they continued to fight until they were left with nothing but animal skin for clothing and emaciated mules to carry them from one futile skirmish to the next. Basic foodstuffs became scarce and while in many cases the men came up with substitutes, the lack of essentials such as salt caused their teeth to break like dry twigs.16 When at last they were forced to surrender in 1902, they found the mandatory oath of allegiance to the British Crown a final insult and flatly refused. Remaining loyal to the defeated Boer Republics, they had no choice but to leave the land they had been fighting for, settling as far away as Angola, Argentina and North America.17 The Bittereinders were clearly not the negotiating type.

			The Joiners, all 5 500 of them, were far more open to traverse the treacherous trails of treason.18 At different points during the war, each of them came to the realisation that the British could not be defeated. However, these men did not only lay down their weapons, they joined the ranks of the enemy. By putting their knowledge of the terrain to good use, they helped British forces by informing them of Boer commando movements. They were also adept at helping to destroy Boer farms and moving the occupants to the hated concentration camps. Although the Joiners were at the opposite extreme when compared to the Bittereinders, their betrayal of the Boer cause was often motivated by the economic hardships they had been suffering in the years before the war.19

			At the time of the war, both the Bittereinders and the Joiners probably had reason to refer to the third group, the Hensoppers, as cowards. This was the group who, like the Joiners¸ realised that the war against Britain was futile. Rather than joining the Boer guerrilla fighters or spying for the British, they took the passive option. By taking an oath of neutrality, the Hensoppers hoped to distance themselves from the conflict, but many found themselves in concentration camps along with the families of Bittereinders. Defining this group is problematic. The concentration camps held older men who were deemed unfit to fight, yet the Bittereinders, for instance, applied a stern interpretation of the word ‘unfit’ that was different from that of the Joiners or the Hensoppers. For Boers in prisoner-of-war camps taking the oath of neutrality was also a way of returning to their families, although their families were most often to be found in concentration camps.20

			Regardless of the efforts of the Bittereinders, the British were relentlessly seeking victory. Their determination to gain control over the Boer Republics – and the mineral riches found within them – began to pay off. By 1900 both the Orange Free State and the South African Republic had been annexed. However, it was not only the stubborn among the Boers who would not accept peace. Lord Alfred Milner, High Commissioner for South Africa and Governor of the Cape Colony, would have preferred to place the country in the hands of the English-speaking (but not necessarily British) loyalists whose ranks were made up by the Cape loyalists and the so-called Uitlanders in the Transvaal colony. It is here that the first hints of mutual agreement are to be seen between Smuts and Churchill. Both men wanted the war to end, and both recognised that the Boers should play the leading role in the post-war relationship with Britain. Following emotional and energy-sapping debates among the Boer leaders, it was finally agreed, to Milner’s disappointment, that the signing of a peace treaty was the only option. On 31 May 1902 the South African War finally ended.21

			Perhaps it was when the Boer leaders realised that the divisions among their people were the thing that would ultimately lead to their defeat that they finally agreed on signing the peace treaty with the British. It was most likely also this realisation, spurring the Afrikaners on to unite and to mend their divisions after the war, that created in them a strong and determined desire to regain their independence. It was the divisions among them that led to their subjection under the British, and it would only be through unity that they would gain true liberation. But the emphasis on unity by and among Afrikaners was elusive. The great divisive factor in the years following the South African War was the British Empire. Some Afrikaners believed that being part of the Empire could only benefit South Africa. Others, however, were adamant that complete independence was the only option and that true freedom would never be a reality as long as Britain had any say in the country. Before the war started, the predominant split in the country was between the English- and Afrikaans-speaking communities. Now, after four years of fighting, the split remained, but a further division was evident, that between those loyal to the Crown and those loyal to a wholly independent country.

			As soon as the war ended, the great Anglicisation of the Afrikaners began in an effort to create a proper British colony from the remnants of the two Boer Republics. A priority was to jump-start the production of gold and to get the economy going again. While Lord Milner encouraged immigrants to settle, the Afrikaners continued to rebuild their devastated farms. Smuts and his fellow Boer leader, General Louis Botha, were eager to unite the English and Afrikaans speakers and through Het Volk, the first Afrikaner political party, they carefully managed expectations on language and education. By 1907 Het Volk came to power and with the help of Chinese labour and new technology, the mines flourished. While many Afrikaners probably still preferred farm life, they were now moving in greater numbers to the cities as the economy adapted to changing circumstances.22

			Self-government granted to the Transvaal and Free State in 1906 and 1907 provided a dim flicker of hope of independence to the Afrikaners in whose memories the hardships of war were still fresh. But it seems imperialism was infectious: by the time World War I started in 1914, Jan Smuts and Louis Botha both believed that South Africa’s future would be brighter as a British Dominion within the folds of the largest Empire of the world. For many Afrikaners who still clung to the ideals of independence, the Union’s acceptance of Britain’s request to invade German South-West Africa was the last straw.23 Bittereinder generals devised ambitious plans of overthrowing the government and raising Republican flags. The first shot of the rebellion was unplanned and intended for a different target, however. It came from a policeman at a road block who thought he was firing at a criminal gang, but the bullet from his gun ricocheted off the road and killed Koos de la Rey, a general of the Boer War and, at that moment, a hesitant rebel.24 

			World War I, like the South African War which ended 12 years earlier, divided the Union, but the lines of division were redrawn in this conflict. While the rebels saw no alternative but to take up arms against the government, many English- and Afrikaans-speaking South Africans believed that to fight for Britain was to ensure the survival of the Empire, and therefore also of the Union. Feelings of loyalty towards the British Empire also extended to black communities who declared their unwavering support to the Prime Minister.25 Those men who found themselves in the trenches and the battlefields of the war developed a sense of camaraderie. Survival was after all more important than class or race. By contrast, those on the home front, far away from world events, became preoccupied with an idealised past, yearning to claim the opportunities of independence lost in 1902.26

			From 1924 to 1939 JBM Hertzog was Prime Minister, and for a short while the Union tried to rid itself of the burden of the British Empire. However, Smuts, waiting for an opportunity to reclaim his leadership, lost as a result of his fierce handling of the 1922 miners’ strike, still believed that the country would prosper under the British Imperial flag.27 In 1934, Smuts compared the Union’s situation with that of Scotland’s ‘grand compromise’ with England. In 1603 the kingdoms of Scotland and England had united as James VI became James I of England. A century later, the Scottish and English parliaments joined forces in the Act of Union of 1707. As a result of this ‘compromise’ Scotland’s economy gained strength, but many patriotic Scots remained doubtful about joining hands with England, which had been sending troops across the Scottish borders for at least 1 000 years.28 Using Scotland as an example, and because he believed that South Africa’s loyalties lay with Britain, Smuts emphasised cooperation between the two countries during a speech in St Andrews saying that ‘in the long run only the spirit of international comradeship can solve the problems of freedom and of peace’.29 Being an idealist and a philosopher, Smuts was obviously focusing only on the positive aspects of Scotland’s union with England.

			The independently minded Afrikaners had other ideas. As Europe moved towards war, the tentacles of Nazism reached the Union and found fertile ground in Afrikaner nationalists who were still hoping to achieve their dream of independence outside of the British Empire. Their determination manifested itself in the formation of the Afrikaner Broederbond and later with the building of the Voortrekker Monument. On the eve of the war, Nazi ideology became most apparent in the establishment of the Ossewabrandwag and its auxiliary Stormjaers. Although this group was modelled on Hitler’s storm troopers, its main aim was to oppose the Union’s war effort, whereas its German counterpart actively promoted conflict. These sentiments did not abate during the war, and led to the National Party coming to power in 1948.30

			The 1938 centennial celebrations of the Great Trek served to re-awaken patriotism in many of those Afrikaners whose loyalties had been buried by the realities of poor white poverty and depression during the 1930s. Adolf Hitler’s rise to leadership and awareness of his beliefs and ideas served as inspiration to staunch Nationalists throughout the pre-war years. During the same year that Hitler became Germany’s Führer, Oswald Pirow, Minister of Defence, had concluded a lucrative trade agreement with the Nazi government. As a result of this deal, Germany became the principal buyer of South African wool and a major exporter of manufactured goods to the Union.31 Pirow was also determined to affirm the Union’s independence by establishing South African Airways with a fleet of German-made Junkers. This was of great concern to the British, not only because of the close relations between the Union’s Defence Minister and the Nazi government, but also because until that time British Imperial Airways had held the upper hand with air transport across Africa.32 With the outbreak of war in 1939 the Nationalists, and especially the Ossewabrandwag, gained new impetus with which to oppose Smuts’s plans.

			Hitler had made his ideas on Lebensraum and the Untermensch very clear, and when Germany invaded Poland the Allied powers were obliged to act, as they had earlier promised to guarantee Poland’s sovereignty.33 On 3 September 1939 Britain declared war on Germany, and now the Union was forced to make up its mind once and for all on the issue of neutrality or participation. Hertzog’s loyalties still lay with an independent Union and he stuck to his position of neutrality in the war. The Nationalists believed that Hitler ultimately had honourable intentions, despite the fact that he had been invading one European country after another.

			Smuts, on the other hand, was immovable about South Africa’s duty as a Dominion and insisted that the country support Britain. Unlike 1914, the differences in opinion did not lead to a rebellion, but a vote in Parliament put a stop to any ideals of neutrality for the time being. Amid wild rumours of invasions and accusations of treachery, the matter went before the House on the night of 4 September. The outcome was in favour of war, if only by 13 votes, but enough to bring about Hertzog’s resignation.34

			‘A large number of our own people are dupes’35

			If it is true that Hitler laughed when he heard about South Africa’s declaration of war on Germany, it would seem he had enough reason to do so. The Union Defence Force was appallingly ill-equipped. The Permanent Force had 5 385 men, 353 of whom were officers.36 The Active Citizen Force was a bit better off, with about 122 000 in its ranks, although many of these men had no military training. There were about 10 million black South African men in the military age group, but none of them was considered by the authorities to play a part, at least not in the early stages of the war.37 To put these figures in perspective, the number of Polish dead during the first weeks of Hitler’s successful invasion in September 1939 amounted to about 66 300.38 By the time the Union had made up its mind to assist Britain, Poland’s losses were already more than 12 times South Africa’s total available force.

			Equally abysmal were the supply and availability of military equipment, ammunition, aircraft and naval vessels. For instance, the Army only had two tanks, two armoured cars and two armoured trains, all of which were obsolete. Smuts’s eagerness to assist the Allied cause is mildly ironic when one considers the unpreparedness of the Union to actually do so, yet he wasted no time in getting the UDF prepared and armed. The agreement between Britain and the Smuts government to use the Union as a training base for the Air Force resulted in the Joint Air Training Scheme of 1940, which propelled the South African Air Force ahead and also brought about development of infrastructure in the Union.39

			Added to this dismal state of affairs in 1939 was the pro-Nazi hangover that the new Smuts government had to deal with following Hertzog’s resignation. Smuts’s relief at winning the vote in parliament to support Britain must have been immense, since men like Oswald Pirow were now prevented from further influencing the government with pro-Nazi ideas. Apparently, according to Smuts’s reckoning, Pirow had managed to transform Hertzog from a conservative Afrikaner into a Nazi. When Hertzog resigned, Pirow was replaced, but by this time he had managed to spread the Nazi net fairly widely across the Union.40

			The exploits of the pro-Nazi section of the population were not limited to the opening months of the war, as the deeds of Robey Leibbrandt, Olympic boxer and Nazi spy, showed in 1941. His mission was to assassinate Smuts and overthrow the government. With the help of the Stormjaers, Robey came very close to achieving his aim, but was betrayed by the leader of the Ossewabrandwag, who felt that the boxer was gaining too much popularity among conservative Afrikaners through his anti-war activities. Robey’s arrest helped the authorities to clear the SAP of those members who were plotting against the government’s war effort. In all about 400 police men were arrested, some for manufacturing explosives in their homes to be used in sabotage operations.41

			The pro-Nazi element caused Smuts and his supporters great headaches, and when the South African Chief of the General Staff, General Sir Pierre van Ryneveld, referred to ‘dupes’ among the South African population, he well may have had the influence of Pirow in mind. Yet it was exactly because of these ‘dupes’ that the Smuts government had to be sensitive in the way it recruited men to increase the meagre ranks of the permanent force. In an effort to avoid another rebellion, Smuts relied on volunteers and did not impose conscription.

			In February 1940 those who volunteered took a service oath in which they pledged to fight anywhere in Africa. By January 1943 the oath was changed, and now volunteers were promising to fight wherever they were needed. Many who had been part of the UDF or of the SAP before March 1940 refused to take the oath and were utilised on the home front.42 Others who were eager to volunteer in 1939, mostly for financial reasons, had second thoughts when they realised they would be required to fight outside of the Union’s borders.43

			During the recruitment drives, Smuts’s aim was to convince both Afrikaans- and English-speaking men to volunteer. By promoting the idea of service to the country as that of fighting a war, rather than fighting for or against a specific cause, the military authorities were relatively successful in boosting the ranks of the UDF. Leaving out a specific cause and focusing solely on the idea of war, political ideas did not affect those who were swept up by military displays and rousing speeches. The prime minister pursued this martial line by attracting the attention of Afrikaners through reminders to them of the ‘high adventure’ of venerated South African War heroes, and then luring the attention of younger men with impressive displays of weaponry. Still, many Afrikaners chose to join the ranks of the Ossewabrandwag to show their disdain for Smuts’s allegiance with their British enemy of less than 40 years earlier.44 Other Afrikaners joined the UDF reluctantly, motivated by financial needs and not because they felt in any way duty bound to do so. In the end, the UDF was more or less equally divided between Afrikaans- and English-speaking South Africans.45
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			CHAPTER TWO

			EVERY MAN FOR HIMSELF

			On 8 September 1940 the Llangibby Castle arrived at Mombasa harbour in the British colony of Kenya. The Ack-Ack men of the 2nd South African Anti-Aircraft Brigade were on board, among them Clive Luyt, Fred van Alphen Stahl and Michael de Lisle. Most of the men had been disappointed by the training they received at the Zonderwater camp and at Simon’s Town, which had involved ‘a great deal of instruction and drill, but very little actual firing’.46 That experience was matched by that of Bernard Schwikkard and his two older brothers, who arrived on the troopship Westernland three months later. Their six weeks’ training in Barberton and Komatipoort had entailed mostly bayonet practice, which Bernard regarded as ‘completely obsolete’.47

			Also on the Westernland were Cyril Crompton and his friend George Norris. They were originally part of the Bluff Battery in Durban, but following months of boredom and a few unpleasant incidents with ‘hardegat’ Afrikaner Permanent Force men, they decided to join the Royal Durban Light Infantry (RDLI). Deserting from the Bluff, they swam across the harbour into town and were, apparently, accepted into the RDLI without question because they said they wanted to see action. No sooner had they reached the Zonderwater training camp near Cullinan, east of Pretoria, however, than they were arrested for deserting in the face of the enemy and sent back to Durban for a court martial. According to Cyril, ‘common sense had prevailed’ and the charges against them were dropped. They were transferred to the 1st South African Anti-Aircraft Regiment, 3rd Battery. Following a month’s training in Cape Town which, happily for these two, coincided with a wine show and ‘passed in a flash’ they boarded the Westernland on their way to Mombasa.48

			At the start of the war, Italy was the smallest of the industrial nations in Europe. The country was extremely poor and also the least ready for conflict, in a political or military sense. Benito Mussolini, the fascist Il Duce, seemed to be continually vacillating between different viewpoints. During the early years of Hitler’s reign, Mussolini was not in favour of Austria becoming part of the greater German Reich, and neither did he agree with the anti-Semitic ideology of the Nazis.49

			The civil war in Spain changed everything. It provided the two dictators with a common enemy – Marxism. Both Hitler and Mussolini supported the rebels against the leftist Spanish government, and by 1937 their newfound friendship had led to an agreement between Italy and Germany.50 Hitler pledged that Germany would not interfere with Italy’s colonial ambitions in the Mediterranean and in return, Mussolini would stop meddling in Hitler’s plans to bring Austria under German control.51 Mussolini was eager to expand his empire in Africa as this would provide raw materials for the war machine.52 The possession of colonies would of course also increase Italy’s prestige in Europe, where the so-called ‘Scramble for Africa’ had been making and breaking economies and egos alike for decades. With Hitler putting threatening pressure on the Austrian chancellor to accept the Anschluss, Mussolini’s government left the Austrians at the mercy of the Nazis.53

			Mussolini did not realise that by leaving the Austrians in the lurch, he had taken sides with the Nazis and for the first year of the war he tried to maintain Italy’s neutrality. However, with Hitler breathing down his neck, Mussolini finally declared war on the Allies in June 1940, blaming Churchill for depriving him of ‘a small place in the African sun’.54 The Italian colonies of Eritrea, Abyssinia and Somaliland in East Africa, as well as the North African colony of Libya, were all located next to British colonies. Britain was determined to protect its own colonial interests in Africa and control of the Mediterranean was crucial, so it had no intention of allowing a fascist dictator to run riot in this important theatre of war. Sadly for Mussolini, the ordinary Italians seemed to have considerably less motivation to go to war; they had no energy for anything but the daily fight against poverty.55

			The Italian forces in East Africa were inadequately trained, badly equipped and disorderly. Michael de Lisle remembered that they showed no interest whatsoever in attacking Mombasa.56 Letters he wrote to his mother during this time reveal that – unlike the troops in the European theatre – the UDF men had not yet been exposed to the full force of warfare. He described the ‘wonderful scenery’, camping ‘under a snow peak glittering white under the full moon’ and the men taking ‘turns to enjoy a meal in bed’. The closest Michael came to describing a war-like incident was of the

			tragic news of a young Air Force officer who had made a forced landing outside our lines and was shot by a friendly Native irregular after almost finishing his long march to this place. I had the privilege of doing two hours’ guard over his body from midnight. It may be meet and right to die for the fatherland but this is a terrible waste that a valuable life should be thrown away like this.57

			Certainly for Bernard and Cyril, Abyssinia and Italian Somaliland held no great danger either. Cyril recalled that there was not much for the anti-aircraft gunners to do, as the Italians did not pose a threat from the air. The closest he got to seeing any action in East Africa was when one of the anti-aircraft batteries ‘shot down a Caproni fighter at a place called Afmadu, but that’s about all’.58 Bernard’s regiment was involved in ‘two minor skirmishes, the capture of Hobok and Fort Mega’, but despite this, he still regarded mosquitoes and lions as their biggest enemies.59
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			Except for getting stuck in the mud, East Africa did not present great difficulties to the Union Forces. COURTESY ENID BATES

			Looking back on his total war experience, Clive regarded his time in East Africa as completely inconsequential. He summed up the entire campaign in one sentence: ‘We chased the Italians out of East Africa; that was no problem.’ There is no doubt that the South Africans were very successful in this early phase of the war, and they certainly showed that they were adept at mobile bush warfare. Unfortunately though, their 100 per cent success rate in this theatre of war and against this specific enemy led the UDF men to believe that they were unbeatable. Many South Africans who fought in East Africa took a dim view of the Italians – as one of them said, they were ‘scruffy little devils’ who were ‘primitive’ and not a worthy enemy. In the deserts of Libya, however, the South Africans were in for a surprise.60

			The Royal Natal Carbineers, the Duke of Edinburgh’s Own Rifles, and the 1st Battalion Transvaal Scottish, all part of the 1st South African Infantry Division, were sent to Libya to take part in Operation Crusader, which started on 17 November 1941. The aim of the operation was to relieve the harbour town of Tobruk where Australian forces were besieged. They were also to recapture Cyrenaica. To achieve these aims, the UDF men were to face General Erwin Rommel’s formidable Afrika Korps. Once in the wastelands of North Africa, it was not long before the South Africans realised that their previous battle experience in East Africa was more or less meaningless and that the Germans posed a tenacious challenge.61 For Bernard Schwikkard and Cyril Crompton this shock came at the Battle of Sidi Rezegh, the first of South Africa’s major setbacks.
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			Howard Bates and his mates making the most of their Cairo leave, February 1942. COURTESY ENID BATES
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			Visiting the Jewish Club in Cairo, Stanley Smollan and friends. COURTESY STANLEY SMOLLAN

			Sidi Rezegh

			The landscape in the Libyan Desert was vastly different from the bush in East Africa. It was bare, windy, dry and dusty. During the day the extreme heat was made worse by the sirocco winds and sandstorms. Added to these conditions were the squadrons of flies that plagued the UDF men, preventing them from eating and sleeping properly.

			Even before they arrived in Libya, Cyril and what he called his ‘pretty lawless crowd’ came face to face with a new type of lawlessness. In Cairo, as ever on the lookout for merriment, they bought what they thought was whisky from the local Egyptians, only to realise they had been hoodwinked when they tasted cold tea. As a result ‘a lot of donnering took place’. The carefree days came to an end when the regiment was moved to Mersa Matruh to supply anti-aircraft protection. There, according to Cyril, they ‘experienced for the first time the war they were meant to be fighting’.62 Bernard, also at Mersa Matruh at the time, remembered being addressed by the Commander in Chief Middle East, Sir Claude Auchinleck, before they were to ‘take the offensive’ in relieving the Australians at Tobruk. As they were the Transvaal Scottish, a piper piped them into battle. Bernard was not impressed, and recalled that ‘although the enemy was nowhere in sight, we had to fix our bayonets to our rifles ready to charge the enemy […] we formed the spearhead of the attack but were out targeted by the Germans who had superior long-distance bazookas and machineguns’.63

			The use of outdated tactics was only one of the problems facing the Allied forces in the desert. They were plagued by fuel supply problems, inadequate and outdated equipment and the disruptions of constant changes in battle plans. Like most other battles in North Africa, the use of tanks and airpower was especially important at the Battle of Sidi Rezegh. However, it would certainly seem as if the commanders of the recently formed Eighth Army were struggling to find their feet. The rank and file took note of this apparent ineptness: a jaundiced soldier noted in his diary that one such commander, Norrie, had ‘been compelled to leave the break-out troops of the Tobruk garrison to their own devices … [and] Cunningham64 … had lost his nerve’.65

			Bernard had little time to reflect on their old-fashioned weapons, because on 23 November 1941 ‘all hell broke loose’. The Germans attacked with heavy artillery and mortar fire, while Bernard was stuck with a so-called sticky bomb that had no detonator:

			The [detonators] were only to be handed to us when it became obvious that the German tanks were going to arrive. The detonators were in the safe custody of a Sgt Major Hansen. The idea was that we had to wait until the [German] tanks passed over the top of us before we smashed the glass sticky bomb against the bottom of the tank and blow it up. Of course no one drew attention to the fact that we would be blown up with the tank. Fortunately for us, when the tanks eventually arrived, Sgt Major Hansen was nowhere to be found.66
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			A Bofors gun at the ready near Bardia. COURTESY ENID BATES

			Cyril was not far away from the Transvaal Scottish where Bernard was frantically trying to avoid the issue of the detonators. Although Cyril’s regiment were able to set up their Bofors anti-aircraft guns, they had no rifles or side arms for use in close-up battle. For Cyril the battle moved ‘tremendously fast. More German tanks and armoured cars came into view and came straight at us. The horrendous noise of the different kinds of munitions screaming past and flying in all directions was awesome [and] most devastating was the heavy artillery barrage that descended upon us.’ The brutal reality of war became piercingly clear when in the midst of the battle Cyril saw an old friend who had been separated from his regiment. As they jokingly shouted warnings and sarcastic comments about the battle at each other, his friend was hit and ‘fell dead into the sand’. Cyril was one of only four men from his gun crew to come out of the battle alive. In a desperate effort to avoid capture they climbed into a truck, but in the confusion of battle they drove straight into German lines and were ‘made to lie face down. And thus we were taken prisoner.’67

			Bernard had no intention of being captured. When he heard the order to retreat, he decided it was now a matter of ‘every man for himself’. Sadly it was too late: the Germans were already overrunning their positions. Realising that he had no option but to surrender, he then saw his brother ‘obstinately refusing to surrender and shouted an appeal to him to surrender for my sake rather than to act foolishly’. For Bernard and for his brother, becoming prisoners of war was a ‘shattering experience’ that never crossed their minds until that moment.68

			The casualty list at the end of the battle revealed the extent of UDF losses. Of the 5th South African Infantry Brigade 224 were killed and 379 wounded, while 3 000 were captured from the total force active at Sidi Rezegh.69 Captured along with Cyril and Bernard were Newman Robinson of the 10th South African Field Ambulance70 and Herbert (Aussie) Hammond71 of the 1st Brigade Signal Corps.72

			For Newman Robinson, each German soldier he encountered during the battle was a study in determination. Newman saw armoured motorcyclists moving towards him, and ‘each man wore a grim, set expression as though his eyes were fixed on a vision of the Fuehrer beckoning him on to victory from somewhere above the skyline’.73 To some degree this is reminiscent of the clichéd image held by many Allied soldiers of their German enemies, but it also shows something of the awe with which the inexperienced UDF soldiers viewed the tactical superiority and discipline of the Afrika Korps. For Newman the battle was horrific, and when his harmless Ambulance Unit inadvertently blocked the path of oncoming German tanks, which seemed as if they ‘roared like rush hour traffic over the Eastern horizon’, his mind refused to accept what was happening to him, and he found himself

			in very much the same way as a man sometimes stands outside himself in a nightmare, and looks on with helpless horror at what is happening to him. I see myself standing alongside my truck in blank amazement, with a plate of porridge in one hand and a mug of coffee in the other, wondering what on earth had gone wrong, and feeling mildly resentful that it should have done so at breakfast time.74

			Newman’s surprise at being captured was aggravated by the fact that he believed the 10th Field Ambulance had been assured of ample British tank protection, and when tanks started roaring past him he at first assumed that they must have been British. When he noticed the black crosses on the side of the tanks, the unmistakable insignia of the Afrika Korps, he ‘felt like a victim of a practical joke’. He surrendered to a German soldier whose appearance was so detestable that he found it hard to believe that his captor could in fact be German. As he was led to where the other POWs had been assembled he was convinced that they would be lined up and shot. Luckily for them, the Germans seemed more interested in their nationality and one soldier, ‘bigger, cleaner, more truculent looking [and with] a bigger gun,’ came closer to the group and started a conversation about their political affiliations towards Smuts or towards Hertzog.75

			The reality of defeat and of becoming a prisoner bluntly confronted Aussie in the afternoon of 23 November, when German tanks surrounded his unit and then moved in to seize the men who were trapped inside the circle. In the path of the tanks lay the bodies of the dead and the injured. The ‘piercing screams of men trapped beneath the giant wheels’ came with the knowledge that they had finally lost the battle. ‘A sick feeling stirred in my stomach and hovered about my throat,’ he wrote. Aussie’s first stop as a POW was a South African first aid post where he and other uninjured men were put to work laying out the bodies of those less fortunate.76

			After the war, the South African military authorities collected statements from soldiers who had been taken prisoner at Sidi Rezegh and these reveal similar opinions regarding risky or misguided tactics, poor defensive cover and battlefield chaos. A medical officer with the 5th South African Brigade who described fighting with inadequate tank and artillery support stated that his brigade had been devastated by a Panzer division which ‘drove right through Brigade Headquarters’.77 It is very possible that this medical officer was in the same Ambulance Unit as Newman Robinson, who also described how German tanks drove through their camp. A letter written by Lieutenant-Colonel BP Purchase, another medical officer, described events at Sidi Rezegh as ‘terrific’ – in the sense of ‘causing terror’ – and that ‘our fellows were shot down like dogs while attending to the wounded’.78

			The UDF men at Sidi Rezegh did not surrender easily, and many tried to escape the relentless German advance. In one case, a non-combatant auxiliary soldier simply referred to as Johannes decided to take matters into his own hands. Johannes worked in the 5th Brigade field kitchen, and according to the Brigade diary, its ‘Non-European’ auxiliary troops had been issued with captured Italian rifles and ammunition for self-protection. As German tanks approached the trenches around the field kitchen, Johannes used his rifle to shoot a German soldier emerging from a tank. The man dropped to the ground and the tank then withdrew from the area around the field kitchen. Johannes and Ambrose, another kitchen worker, found a truck and escaped, re-joining the Brigade after the battle.79 A note accompanying the document in which their exploits were recorded states that the extract concerning Johannes was cut from the official Brigade diary on the instructions of Major General Brink, probably because the issuing of weapons to auxiliary troops was not allowed and the 5th Brigade had actually acted against this official policy. By shooting the German soldier, Johannes had shown that black volunteers were able to do more than their assigned auxiliary tasks like driving, cooking, and cleaning, exposing the impotence of months of debates on the issue between Smuts’s supporters, Afrikaner nationalists and even the African National Congress, which had been trying to formulate a response to the government’s unwillingness to arm black volunteers.80

			The writer Uys Krige, a war correspondent at the time, was also captured at Sidi Rezegh. The event made such an impact on him that he came to regard the experience of that day as the most important in his life.81 In a prose work entitled Totensonntag, he described how, while taking cover in a slit trench during the heavy bombing, the mad thought of plucking the bombs out of the sky as if they were poppies entered his mind.82
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‘Impressively lucid, deeply humane, and packed with
shrewd insights’— PROFESSOR BILL NASSON
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